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CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION (COVERT POWERS) BILL 2011 
Committee 

Resumed from an earlier stage of the sitting. The Deputy Chair of Committees (Hon Brian Ellis) in the chair; 
Hon Michael Mischin (Attorney General) in charge of the bill. 

Postponed clause 5: Terms used — 
Committee was interrupted after the amendment moved by Hon Michael Mischin (Attorney General) had been 
partly considered. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: When we left proceedings prior to question time, we were considering this proposed 
amendment for a regulation-making power that would be provided under this bill. I was making the observation 
that albeit the amendment does not go quite as far as my committee—the Joint Standing Committee on the 
Corruption and Crime Commission—had asked for, the amendment restricts the scope of offence that will be 
captured by the definition in the amendment. It is instructive to consider for a minute the explanatory 
memorandum that was provided with this bill. At page 3 it states — 

‘Relevant Offence’ 
A controlled operation can only be authorised for a relevant offence. A relevant offence is an offence 
against the law of this jurisdiction punishable on conviction by a maximum penalty of imprisonment for 
3 years or more or a limited number of less serious offences that are prescribed in regulations. 

I submit that at least one thing that this amendment does is provide greater authenticity to the phrase “a limited 
number of less serious offences”, because of course only seven acts will now be captured, rather than the many 
other acts on the statute book. However many that may be, I would not want to proffer the number this evening. 

Also when we left proceedings moments ago, I wanted to consider in particular two of the seven acts that are 
proposed to be included by way of this amendment; they are the Misuse of Drugs Act 1981 and the Prostitution 
Act 2000. I want to draw to the attention of members the fifteenth report of the Joint Standing Committee on the 
Corruption and Crime Commission, which makes eight findings, some of which are relevant to this matter. I was 
speaking about finding 4, which states — 

The CCC has not been proactive in oversighting the use by the WA Police of controlled operations 
under the provisions of the Prostitution Act 2000 or the Misuse of Drugs Act 1981. 

Later, finding 7 states — 
The CCC has undertaken to conduct a corruption prevention review of the operational activities, 
policies and processes of the WA Police in relation to the Prostitution Act 2000. 

Finding 8 is the same as finding 7 but relates to the Misuse of Drugs Act. 

I say all that to draw attention—in the spirit of what Hon Giz Watson said in her comments on the bill—to the 
fact that we are dealing here with exceptional powers. These are not ordinary matters that are available to the 
police; these are exceptional matters, and in particular at this point in the bill we are dealing with controlled 
operations. A controlled operation is not an operation that is undertaken in the normal course of events; it is an 
exceptional power. I draw to the attention of anyone who would suggest to the contrary that, as matters presently 
stand, if someone in WA Police wants to conduct a controlled operation, they must first get permission from the 
Corruption and Crime Commission. It is the Corruption and Crime Commission that considers the application 
from WA Police and then gives permission on a case-by-case basis. This particular suite of reforms will enable 
the Commissioner of Police to delegate this power at his discretion without the need to make an application to 
the Corruption and Crime Commission. At least one thing we have achieved with the amendments in this bill is 
assurance that the CCC will have mandatory oversight of that process. That is therefore a positive step forward, 
and I congratulate the various ministers who have been involved with this bill for achieving that outcome. It is a 
far more satisfactory outcome than the outcome we first heard of. Be that as it may, seven acts will be captured 
by this amendment. We know that historically the CCC has not provided good oversight of two of those seven 
acts. I think that is cause for us to pause and consider the ramifications of this amendment.  
I have some questions for the Attorney General in his representative capacity here this afternoon, particularly 
around the Prostitution Act 2000, which is one of the acts that I am a little more familiar with than necessarily 
some of the other seven acts listed. I refer to the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008, which has passed both 
houses of Parliament and is unproclaimed. Are there any offences under that act, which has passed both houses 
of Parliament, which, at the stroke of a pen, the executive could bring into law? Are there any offences under 
that act that would now be captured by this amendment before us, which we would have no further say on in the 
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future should someone from the executive decide to use their pen and enact that law? Are there any offences 
under the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 that would be relevant to us here?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There are a number of things I need to say about what Hon Nick Goiran has been 
talking about over the last several minutes. Firstly, regarding the inclusion of these statutes as ones that may 
provide a relevant offence for the purposes of a controlled operation, I should point out that it is not as though 
those regulations will not be the subject of scrutiny; it is simply that regulations can provide for certain offences 
committed under those acts, which do not carry penalties of three years’ imprisonment, to be a relevant offence 
for the purposes of founding a covert operation under section 12 of the proposed act, but also various other 
provisions under proposed section 12 need to be satisfied before a covert operation can be initiated. It is not as 
though there is an ability at large to draw on offences that have penalties under three years’ imprisonment.  

Secondly, I cannot comment on what the Corruption and Crime Commission may or may not have been doing in 
terms of oversight of operations, but I point out that currently, under section 35 of the Prostitution Act 2000, 
covert operations can be conducted for any offence under that act. There are no extraordinary powers involved 
here which are not known to the Prostitution Act already. In fact, the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) 
Bill 2011 will add extra levels of oversight and control over controlled operations, and the activities of 
undercover officers, that are not present in the current legislation; nor are they present under section 35 of the 
Misuse of Drugs Act, which permits undercover officers, appointed by the Commissioner of Police, to conduct 
controlled operations in respect of any offence under the Misuse of Drugs Act. I really do not understand the 
proposition and the cause for concern that seems to have exercised Hon Nick Goiran’s committee. Those powers 
are available now, albeit they do not have anything like the controls proposed by this bill.  
Getting to the final proposition—whether there are any offences under an act that has been passed but not 
proclaimed because it has never received royal assent—until royal assent is granted and the operation of that act 
commences, no, there are no offences relevant to these proceedings or that would fall within the definition of 
“relevant offence” as contemplated by the bill.  
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I have two points. Firstly, I thank the Attorney General for the response. For the 
Attorney General’s awareness, I will refer to the matters that exercised the mind of my committee. As I said, we 
are not orphans in that regard. In fact the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review—I 
stand to be corrected by members of that committee—unanimously concurred in that respect. Perhaps those eight 
sworn members of Parliament may not be sufficient, so I will draw members’ attention to the fact that at page 22 
of the sixty-ninth report of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review, there is some 
commentary about an examination that took place between the committee and Hon Chris Steytler, QC, who of 
course, once upon a time used to be the President of the Court of Appeal in this state. I think that any reasonable 
observer would come to the conclusion that he shared all the concerns that I have articulated this afternoon. Be 
that as it may, the second issue I want to follow up relates to the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008. Unless I 
misheard, I understand the answer to be that if that act were to be proclaimed, there would be no new offences 
that could be subject to the regulation-making power of the proposed amendment before us. I need to have that 
confirmed by the Attorney General.  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The way that the statutes interact currently, the definition of a “relevant offence” 
is “any offence against the law of this state punishable by imprisonment for three years or more”. If the 
Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 came into effect, and if it contained an offence therein that carried a penalty 
of three years’ imprisonment or more, then yes, it would satisfy the requirement of a “relevant offence” under 
the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Bill 2011. If an amendment to the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 
amends the Prostitution Act 2000, by that means, if the Prostitution Amendment Act were to come into 
operation, yes, that could be imported into the operation of this bill, but it would still require the offences, if they 
carried a penalty of less than three years’ imprisonment, to be the subject of regulations made under the current 
bill in order to fall within the ambit of a “relevant offence” should the Prostitution Act 2000 be specified as one 
of the statutes under proposed section 5.  
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Attorney General, how many such offences would be captured in the event that that 
unproclaimed act was proclaimed?  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have not gone to the trouble of counting them. I have not even looked through 
the bill, but that is the way it would operate. I am happy to take it up with Hon Nick Goiran at some stage, but I 
cannot really see how it is relevant to the provision we are dealing with at the moment, which does not even refer 
to that act.  
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I think we will need to have an answer in relation to that matter. What is happening here, 
for those observing proceedings, is we are enabling, according to the explanatory memorandum, controlled 
operations to only be authorised for a relevant offence. A relevant offence is defined in the act, and is captured in 
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two ways: one is, it is any offence that carries a penalty of three years’ imprisonment or more; the second is 
anything less than that, it is subject to regulations. It seems to me that we would want to be certain, when we are 
saying that the punishment for an offence is imprisonment for more than three years or it is subject 
to regulations, what this is; in other words, we would want to have certainty and clarity on the types of offences 
that are intended to be captured. When we say “relevant offence”, what do we mean? It would be helpful for me 
if we could understand how many of those offences could be captured by “relevant offence”. As I understand it, 
at the moment there will be a certain number of offences—I do not know how many. Let us imagine for 
a moment that 100 offences on the statute book could be captured or considered as relevant offences. The 
question I have is: if the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 is proclaimed, which Parliament will have no control 
over, will that number increase above my hypothetical number of 100?  For example, could it be 117?  Could 
another 17 offences be captured by this? I think it is important for us to know whether we are dealing with 100 
or 117.  I ask the Attorney if he could assist me in that regard and when we might be able to get some clarity.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It may be important to Hon Nick Goiran, but it is not important for the purposes of 
this bill how many offences might potentially be captured that carry more than three years’ imprisonment or less 
than three years’ imprisonment in the state of Western Australia, because at the end of the day, before those 
carrying less than three years’ imprisonment are captured, they would have to be prescribed by regulations 
brought to this place that would be the subject of debate and potential disallowance, and those particular 
offences—not offences at large—would be identified in those regulations. At a quick count, I understand the 
Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 provides for some seven offences—if that is right—that carry three years or 
more imprisonment and that some 20 offences carry less than three years’ imprisonment. I have already 
indicated the sorts of offences under the Prostitution Act 2000, as it currently stands, the government would 
foresee being prescribed under the regulations. Frankly, the idea of counting up potential offences does not seem 
to me to have any value at all. I fail to understand how the number of offences, whether it is 101 or 100, can have 
any possible bearing on the merits of the bill as it is currently framed.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I thank the Attorney for that. When we were last dealing with this bill, the Attorney gave 
some examples of the types of offences that might be captured by the regulation-making capacity. The Attorney 
listed a number of examples; I cannot recall how many. As I understand it, the purpose of listing those examples 
was so that we could have a flavour—a bit of an understanding—of the types of offences that would be captured. 
I appreciate that that non-exhaustive list has been provided and, should I be inclined, I could search for it in 
Hansard. However, I am not yet clear, in the event that the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 is proclaimed by 
this or any other Attorney General, that any of those possibly 20 offences, which I think the Attorney mentioned, 
are also intended to be captured? In other words, had one turned one’s mind to this two weeks ago would any of 
those 20 matters be included in that non-exhaustive list the Attorney provided?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The subject is academic. I have no intention of proclaiming the 2008 act and, 
frankly, have not turned my mind to which offences under that act may or may not be, theoretically, the subject 
of a relevant offence under this bill. The honourable member will recall I noted one potential offence under the 
Misuse of Drugs Act and six under the Prostitution Act 2000, and they include one of allowing a child to be in a 
place involving prostitution.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I thank the Attorney General for clarifying that six had been listed previously. Would it 
be possible to get an indication as to which of the other 20 that the Attorney referred to earlier would be included 
in addition to the six?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Which 20? 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I heard earlier that 20 offences, on a quick count, would be captured by the regulation-
making jurisdiction. Let me make it perfectly clear: I heard earlier that the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 has 
seven offences that carry imprisonment for three years or more and that there were 20 that were less than three 
years’ imprisonment, and they potentially would be caught up in this regulation-making power. I seek 
clarification on that, and if what I heard was correct, how many of the 20 would be added to the list of six the 
Attorney General mentioned earlier?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There are not 20 offences that potentially would be caught in this regulation-
making power. It is an act that has no operation as it has not received royal assent, and there is no intention to 
proclaim it. It is entirely academic as to how many offences may be modified by amendments contained within 
that act, because it is irrelevant; it does not have any operation in law.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I simply request that when the Attorney General answers a question, he speak in the 
microphone, because we are having difficulty hearing him.  
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Hon KATE DOUST: I have listened to the extended debate from Hon Nick Goiran with interest and I am 
pleased to hear that the Attorney General says he is not going to proclaim the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008. 
It breaks an election commitment that the Premier made prior to the election that he would repeal it, so I guess 
the Attorney General is in a holding pattern. I listened to what the Attorney General had to say about the matters 
being canvassed, but currently a bill is parked in the other place, the Prostitution Bill 2011. I do not know what 
the government’s real intentions are with that bill, but at some point this legislation will pass. I want to know 
whether, if the government moves forward on this legislation—let us say it does pass through the Parliament—
the Attorney would have to come back and amend this legislation at some point?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Plainly that would be the case, or that legislation would amend this legislation. Let 
me put it another way: the Prostitution Bill 2011 would repeal, amongst other things, the Prostitution 
Amendment Act 2008, so when that passes through Parliament that election commitment—the repeal of that 
ALP act—will be fulfilled. When that is done, it will also repeal the Prostitution Act 2000. Therefore, we will 
either have to come back here in order to amend clause 5 of the current bill or we will have to introduce an 
amendment to the Prostitution Bill 2011 in order to make a consequential amendment to this bill. The situation 
will be dealt with one way or another. It might be pre-empted, because I understand that the opposition’s stated 
policy is that that bill no longer represents its platform on prostitution. The government has been invited to 
repeal that act. I point out that it is trying to repeal that act with the bill currently before the other place. It is 
always open to the opposition to introduce a private member’s bill and use its time to get rid of that bill if it is 
serious about getting rid of it. That is all academic. There are a variety of ways it could come about. I assure 
members that should that happen, legislation will be introduced or, as a consequence of the repeal of the 
legislation and the Prostitution Act 2000, amendments will be made in this place.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: That explanation was extremely helpful. As I understand it, if some form of amendment 
affects one of the seven acts listed in the Attorney General’s amendment, that could result in us needing to revisit 
this issue down the track. I am aware that the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 renames the Prostitution Act 
2000. If memory serves me correct—some members were here at the time—it is proposed to be called the sexual 
services act 2000 or something to that effect. As a precursor to my question, I acknowledge that the Attorney 
General said that he does not intend to proclaim that unproclaimed legislation. I understand that. I am supportive 
of that position; indeed, I would be horrified to think that he would do otherwise. I ask Hon Michael Mischin to 
imagine for a moment that he is not the Attorney General and that some other Attorney General decides to 
proclaim that piece of legislation. 
Hon Kate Doust: Are you putting your hand up for the job? 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: No, no, no! There are some certainties in life, and that is one of them.  

I digress. Imagine for a moment that an Attorney General wants to proclaim that legislation. He or she can do 
that without the consent of the members of this chamber. That act will rename the Prostitution Act 2000. Is it the 
case then that once it is proclaimed, it would be called the sexual services act and, therefore, one of the seven 
acts listed in the amendment would no longer be captured?  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: There are members of this chamber who want to support the amendment because they 
would like to see the Prostitution Act 2000 captured by the government amendment. The amendment states that 
seven acts will be captured by this provision. We want the seven acts to be captured—not six. We have 
specifically turned our minds to having the seven acts captured. Would it not be in the best interests of members 
of this chamber and the best interests of the government amendment to move a new clause to repeal the 
Prostitution Amendment Act 2008 to provide absolute clarity to every member in this chamber about what we 
are dealing with? In that way no circumstance will arise outside of our control whereby someone from the 
executive uses a pen to proclaim an act to which we do not consent, thereby changing what we have in front of 
us from seven acts to six acts. Would it not be in our best interests to do that?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I think I went through this during the course of the last episode. Firstly, there is no 
motion before the chamber for such an amendment. Secondly, I would have thought that if a motion to do that 
had been moved, it would be outside the scope of the bill we are currently dealing with, and certainly outside the 
scope of its long title. I do not propose to use the time of this chamber to enter into a debate as to whether or not 
an act that is not in operation and that foreseeably will never be put into operation will be repealed in the course 
of the proceedings that we are dealing with.  
Hon GIZ WATSON: I have a general question about the amendment. This is about “relevant offence”. I 
understand the amendment will delete —  
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(b) an offence against the law of this jurisdiction that is prescribed for the purposes of this 
definition; 

That would be done by regulation. It will also insert —  

(b) an offence not covered by paragraph (a) under any of the following Acts — 

It then lists the acts we have been discussing. The way I read that, it refers to any offence under those acts not 
limited to those that would later be prescribed by regulation. Where are the words that state that a subset of the 
offences under those acts will be prescribed by regulation?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I think there is a little confusion. There are two amendments on the notice paper in 
my name relating to clause 5. The first is amendment 159/5 and the second is amendment 161/5, which is from 
supplementary notice paper issue 11. I have already indicated that I will not be moving amendment 159/5. We 
are currently dealing with amendment 161/5, which contains the words that indicate there will have to be 
prescription by regulation of offences that are a subset of those contained in the seven statutes identified.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: I thank the Attorney General for that clarification. The multiple supplementary notice 
papers and the two similar amendments in the name of the Attorney General that are next to each other have 
been a problem with this legislation.  

Hon Michael Mischin: We are dealing with supplementary notice paper issue 11. That is the one that has culled 
all the stuff we have disposed of so far.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: So we are currently dealing with amendment 161/5?  

Hon Michael Mischin: Yes.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: When the chamber last considered this provision on 14 June 2012, I asked a question of 
Hon Peter Collier, who then had carriage of the bill. The Hansard of that day reads —  

I understand that the police are currently considering a range of offences that they intend to prescribe 
once this bill is in force. I would appreciate it if the minister would table that list of offences so that 
members can consider the offences that are currently under consideration or being prescribed by 
regulations. A list of offences was provided to the committee. I know that in the past the government 
has provided lists of offences that are intended to be prescribed once an act comes into force so I do not 
think it is an unreasonable request. I would ask that the minister table that so we can give it 
consideration at this point. 

Hon Peter Collier responded to me in the following way —  

Again, in a great act of cooperation, I am more than willing to table that. Unless we finish in the next 15 
minutes, it will need to be done on Tuesday. We can ensure that the respective members have access to 
that information. We will table it on Tuesday.  

I am still waiting for that information. I ask the Attorney General to table that information.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am content to table it, but Hon Adele Farina has not been denied the information. 
I read them out on the last occasion we were here. I went through them all. 

Hon Adele Farina: I would like a copy of the list to be tabled. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If it helps Hon Adele Farina because she does not have access to the Hansard of 
13 September, I am content to table the list I read out. The member asked a question about other jurisdictions, 
which I answered also on the last occasion. I am happy to table a summary that deals with an answer to all those 
issues.  

[Leave granted.] [See paper 5035.]  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I move — 

That further consideration of clause 5 be postponed. 

I wish to defer finalisation of this provision until I have an opportunity to look through that list because I may 
want to make some comments on it, but until I have a copy of it, I am not in a position to do that. If that is not 
the will of the chamber, I will raise some other questions on that provision until I have that list.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Ordinarily, I would not have a problem with this, but it has been almost a week 
since I read out precisely what the honourable member is after. I see no reason for a delay in the proceedings. 
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We have 20 minutes until the dinner suspension. Hon Adele Farina has other material she can speak to in respect 
of this clause. I invite her to do that. If we exhaust the other issues she wants to deal with and she still has a 
concern about the offences, I will reconsider the issue at that stage. At this point, it seems to me that we need to 
proceed with the bill. There has been ample time for her to look into this stuff since I read it out on 
13 September.  

Question put and negatived.  
Hon ADELE FARINA: It looks as though I will need to talk this out for the next 15 minutes, so that is what I 
will do. Hon Nick Goiran has gone through the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes 
Review report at some length, and I am grateful to Hon Giz Watson, who read into Hansard the deliberations on 
this provision as detailed in that committee report. The standing committee raised a number of very strong 
concerns about having a regulation-making power that adds a lot of additional offences that will be covered by 
the provisions of this bill without Parliament actually knowing what they are at this time. When we are dealing 
with the quite extraordinary powers encompassed by this bill, it does not seem to me to be unreasonable for the 
Parliament to seek to have clear what offences those provisions of the act will apply to.  
Hon Michael Mischin: I have already done that. You weren’t here.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: The reality is that the amendment moved by the Attorney General is certainly an 
improvement on not knowing at all what those other provisions might be that will be imposed by regulations. 
But let us be clear about the seven acts. One is the Criminal Code. We all know it is a tome and contains a huge 
number of offences. Fundamentally, if we agree to the Attorney General’s proposed amendment, any provision 
in the Criminal Code could be added through regulation to the application of this bill. That is a huge number of 
offences. I am not saying the government will include them all, but the reality is that this amendment allows for 
that possibility. I have some very serious concerns about that, and so did the standing committee when it 
considered this.  

When we are approving extraordinary powers, we should be clear and certain about the circumstances in which 
those powers will apply. By supporting this provision, which allows additional offences to be added to the 
definition of “relevant offence” by regulation-making power, we will be approving the application of these quite 
serious powers to a lot of offences that we do not yet know about. We do not know the degree to which other 
offences will be added to the definition of “relevant offence” by regulation. I think that should be of concern to 
this Parliament, particularly when we are dealing with heavy acts such as the Criminal Code. Effectively, as a 
result of this amendment, every single offence in the Criminal Code could be added to the definition of “relevant 
offence”. I think that should be a matter of concern to all members of Parliament. We have been told time and 
again, and it was referred to in the second reading speech, that the whole point of this bill is to deal with serious 
offences. The reality is that not every single offence in the Criminal Code and in the other six acts identified by 
this amendment could in any very generous definition be considered to be serious offences, yet they all have the 
capacity to be added to the definition of “relevant offence” through the government’s proposed amendment. I 
think that is a matter that should be a concern to all members.  

I do not think the Attorney General or the government has provided anything to this chamber or the committee 
that justifies retention of that regulation-making power in this bill. When the standing committee considered this 
matter, it knew that the government had the numbers in this place, so if it wanted to it could use its numbers to 
force anything through the chamber. Being mindful of that, the standing committee offered an alternative 
recommendation in its report; namely, at the very least, if we are going to do this, the regulations should be made 
by way of affirmative resolution so that they do not come into effect until the regulations have been laid before 
both houses of Parliament and an affirmative resolution to adopt those regulations has been made by this place, 
which will allow a greater level of scrutiny than the current disallowance provisions under the Interpretation Act. 
When I and other members of the committee have attended scrutiny of legislation conferences, this is a matter 
that has attracted a lot of attention and discussion. There has been a move in other states to review the regulation-
making powers to adopt a process by which there is affirmative resolution other than the current disallowance 
process. We all know the level of scrutiny provided under the disallowance process is very limited. In reality, 
because of its workload, the Standing Committee on Delegated Legislation has a capacity to look only at 
whether regulations fall within the head of power; it does not have an opportunity to undertake a detailed 
investigation into matters. We know also that unless a disallowance motion is moved, the proposed regulations 
will not be considered by the house in any detail.  
The intention of the process of affirmative resolution is to ensure that regulations, particularly regulations of this 
nature that have significant consequences, are brought to the attention of the house and the house has an 
opportunity to consider the proposed regulations before they are enacted. I note that to date the Attorney General 
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has not made any comment on that committee proposal. I invite the Attorney General to provide some comment 
on the government’s position on that committee recommendation.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I have just been handed a four-page document, which I can only assume is the one that 
the Attorney General tabled a moment ago. It has drawn to my attention something that I had not considered 
previously. This amendment will cover seven acts and, as I understand this document at page 2, it is not 
proposed that these regulations capture any offences under the Firearms Act 1973 and the Weapons Act 1999. In 
other words, what it actually states is that no offences under either of those two acts are currently under 
consideration for being prescribed in the regulations. Therefore, I seek clarification from the Attorney about why 
we need to include the Firearms Act 1973 and the Weapons Act 1999 in this amendment. Is it possible for us at 
this time to restrict this provision further to capture only five, rather than seven, acts? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I will deal with Hon Nick Goiran’s question first. These are simply offences that 
are currently contemplated for specification in the regulations. There is no intention at this stage to include any 
offences under the Firearms Act, but there may be in future because a number of offences that deal with the 
ownership, use and regulation of firearms may become relevant at some point. The joint working group 
recommended in its final report, as I indicated on the last occasion, that jurisdictions should be able to prescribe 
offences that fall below the three-year threshold from categories of legislation including child pornography, 
gaming, fisheries, firearms, prostitution and corruption. That is the reason that is in there.  
As to the affirmative regulation concept, that was answered by the evidence of the police before the Standing 
Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review and its response appears at paragraph 10.27 of the 
committee’s report, which summarises the government’s position; that is, the length of time that may be 
involved in getting the regulations passed means there is an inability to utilise the flexibility that regulations are 
meant to provide in legislation. The whole point of regulations is to conveniently and in a timely way deal with 
matters that otherwise would require the passage of an act of Parliament. In the context of what we are trying to 
achieve—namely, the flexibility for police to be able to investigate matters of import that would warrant a 
controlled operation—the delays that might occur in dealing with an affirmative regulation process would be 
unacceptable to the government, and we witnessed about 10 minutes of that just then.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I thank the Attorney and just seek clarification. I think the Attorney mentioned that there 
is not an intention to consider anything under the Firearms Act 1973, so I take it then that we are including that 
act as one of the seven acts just as a proactive measure to make sure that we do not have to come back to the 
chamber and perhaps, if I can say, waste the chamber’s time with having to consider this down the track. 
Therefore, we are including it as one of the seven acts because the last thing we would want is to come back here 
on another occasion and reconsider these matters. Is that what we are saying? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: That being the case, Attorney, if we do not want to waste our time by coming back to the 
chamber on another occasion, I go back to the earlier comment that I made: why is it that we are opposed to 
ensuring that we have clarity in simply repealing the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008, which, I understood 
from what the Attorney said earlier, would force us to have to come back into this place on another occasion? 
We do not want to do that with the Firearms Act 1973; in fact, we are so concerned about having to come back 
to the chamber on another occasion, even though we have no intention at the present time to prescribe any of 
those offences under that act, that we are going to be very cautious and make sure everyone in this place 
understands exactly where we stand. We want to know exactly which seven acts might be covered, but when it 
comes to the Prostitution Act 2000 we do not want to provide that certainty; we want to leave it in a state of a 
lack of clarity, in a grey area—we do not want to be black and white. We want to be black and white on the 
Firearms Act, but we do not want to be black and white on the Prostitution Act. I just want to get clarity about 
why we are taking one approach for firearms but not with regard to the other. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I would be most interested to hear the Attorney General’s answer to the question posed 
by Hon Nick Goiran. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If the member had been listening, she would have heard it; I have already dealt 
with it. If Hon Adele Farina was really interested, she would have opened her ears and heard what I said on the 
last occasion that this issue was agitated, back on 13 September, which happens to also have been the time when 
I read out the list of offences that she is so interested in, and she would have heard what I said earlier today. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I do not know why the Attorney General insists on being so disagreeable and 
argumentative when this is a process that the Parliament is supposed to go through. We are supposed to 
investigate and inquire into bills and satisfy ourselves that the laws that we propose to make are actually just and 
reasonable, yet the Attorney General seems to get aggravated every time someone stands to ask a question and 
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do the job that we are elected to do in this place. However, his bullying tactics will have no effect, as far as I am 
concerned.  

I seek some clarification from the Attorney General about whether the list that he tabled of offences that the 
police are currently considering to prescribe in regulations is an exhaustive list. What consultation has been 
undertaken in the preparation of that list, and who has been consulted? 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is it an exhaustive list? I think that I have already said on several occasions that 
the list is what the police currently propose to have included by way of regulation. I am not sure why I would put 
up a list and say that if it was not complete, but I will explain it again to Hon Adele Farina. It is a list of what the 
police are currently contemplating ought to be included. The consultation was internally within WA Police 
among those who are involved in the detection of crime and controlled operations. 

Hon KATE DOUST: Mr Deputy Chair, given that we are so close to the dinner break and we seem to be going 
around and around in circles, perhaps it might be appropriate at this time to ask you to leave the chair until the 
ringing of the bells. Hopefully, we will resolve this matter when we come back from the dinner break and 
hopefully we will resolve it swiftly.  

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Brian Ellis): Members, we still have a couple of minutes to go, and I have a 
question that I was asking. The question still remains that the lines to be deleted, be deleted.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: Was the consultation to identify offences under the Fish Resources Management Act 
also done internally by WA Police or did it undertake consultation with the Department of Fisheries? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, with the serious offences unit of the Department of Fisheries. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: So, the Attorney General is noting that his earlier answer to the question that I asked 
was not complete, or not completely accurate, when he said that the only consultation that occurred was internal 
consultation within WA Police.  

I also seek clarification on whether there was any consultation with the Classification Board and the 
commonwealth on offences under the Classification (Publications, Films and Computer Games) Enforcement 
Act 1996. 

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 
The CHAIR: I am reliably informed that the Attorney General may well be in a position to make some 
comments in relation to comments from Hon Adele Farina. I do not mean to get the Attorney General on his feet. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, I don’t have any comment to make. 

The CHAIR: We are still on Attorney General’s amendment 161/5. I give the call to Hon Adele Farina. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I note on the record that the Attorney General was obviously listening very intently to 
the comments that I made before the dinner break but he is not in a position to provide an answer to the 
comments that I made earlier. Nevertheless, we will move on. 

Hon Michael Mischin: I gave them the attention they deserved. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: He was not paying attention at all, I think. 

I looked at the list the minister has tabled of offences that WA Police are currently considering for prescribing in 
the regulations as falling within the definition of “relevant offence”. I note that this is not the same list as the list 
provided to the committee at the time the committee asked for it, in that some offences have been omitted and 
some offences have been added. I would just like to explore that a little. 

I also think that, for the information of members of the house, it is interesting to note that some of the offences 
listed here carry as little as a 12-month imprisonment period, and a number of them carry simply a fine penalty 
with no imprisonment penalty at all. Here we are going from a bill that prescribes that a relevant offence is an 
offence that carries a penalty of three years or more imprisonment to a bill that has the ability to prescribe other 
offences, which we were assured would be serious criminal offences, but a number of the offences on the list that 
are being considered to be prescribed in the regulations carry a mere financial penalty with no term of 
imprisonment at all. 

I note that when WA Police provided the list to the committee, section 63 of the Criminal Code was included and 
that offence relates to taking part in unlawful assembly. I note that it is not on the list tabled by the Attorney 
General earlier this evening. I would like to understand whether a decision has been made, whether the 
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government will not prescribe section 63 of the Criminal Code, taking part in unlawful assembly, under the 
regulations, and whether it will not prescribe that as a relevant offence. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Plainly a decision has been made, because it is not on the list. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I ask the Attorney General if he could, for the benefit of the chamber, explain the 
reason why it has been removed from the list, because it appeared on the list that was provided to the committee. 
It has now been removed. I think it would help the chamber to know the reasoning behind that decision so that 
we can understand the sort of process of consideration that the government is going through in making decisions 
about which provisions will be prescribed by regulations and which ones will not be. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: At the time of the hearing of the committee, the view of the police was that that 
was an offence that may be included. Under further consideration, they have changed their mind. If the 
honourable member would like us to include that offence, I would ask the advisers to refer the matter to the 
appropriate decision-making authorities and we can include it, if necessary. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: The snide comments by the Attorney General do not actually help the process in 
considering this bill. 

Hon Michael Mischin: I am answering the question. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: The question I asked was: what were the reasons for the decision to no longer include 
that provision? The Attorney General has not answered that question and he has made a whole lot of snide 
comments to suggest that I am suggesting that it should be included. I am not suggesting that at all, just for the 
record. I would just like to understand what process the police went through in determining which offences in the 
Criminal Code should be prescribed by regulations to fall within the definition of “relevant offence”. I do not 
think it is an unreasonable request for the Parliament to make of the Attorney General. The government has 
come to this house asking the Parliament to agree to a provision that enables the executive to add to the 
definition of “relevant offence” by way of regulation-making power. We now have a list of offences it is 
currently considering. There has been a change, in a few short months, between what was provided to the 
committee and what has been provided to the house. I do not think it is unreasonable to get some explanation of 
the thought process and analysis that has gone on to determine which regulations should fall and be caught by 
that regulation-making power. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am informed that WA Police took account of the comments that committee 
members made during the course of committee hearings and refined the list to more accurately and appropriately 
align with the recommendations of the joint working group to identify offences that may be precursors to more 
serious criminal conduct. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: I thank the Attorney General for that explanation. 

I also note that another provision, section 445, damage to property, was included in the list that was provided to 
the committee and is not on the list that has been tabled by the Attorney General. I would be interested to know 
the reasons why WA Police is no longer considering that as a provision of the Criminal Code that should, by 
regulations, be incorporated into the definitions of “relevant offence”.  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: My recollection is that section 445 relates to criminal damage–type offences of a 
fairly low level. Substantial criminal damage is already embraced within the scope of a relevant offence because 
it carries a penalty of more than three years’ imprisonment.  
Hon ADELE FARINA: In relation to offences under the Fish Resources Management Act 1994, in the 
document tabled by the Attorney General there are seven offences that have been identified under that act. Then 
there is a comment “associated offences related to any offence listed in paragraph (a)”, which are the other seven 
sections I have referred to. That is a very broad explanation. I wonder whether the Attorney General could 
identify the associated offences related to any of the offences listed in paragraph (a), which are sections 51, 74, 
77, 96, 155; and, in paragraph (b), sections 173 and 199?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Section 74(1) of the Fish Resources Management Act 1994 provides —  

A person must not intentionally or recklessly contravene a provision of a management plan the 
contravention of which is specified in the plan to be an offence. 

Certain penalties are prescribed in that. Subsection (2) states — 

A person must not contravene a provision of a management plan the contravention of which is specified 
in the plan to be an offence. 
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There is the offence for the contravention of the management plan. There is a provision in the management plan 
that says if a requirement is breached in the management plan, then that too constitutes an offence. That is what 
is referred to as an “associated offence”.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: Just so I get this clear: although the proposed amendment currently being considered by 
the chamber refers to the ability to prescribe the additional offences listed in the seven acts specified in the 
amendment, the Attorney General has said that in addition to the seven acts listed, any offences listed in 
management plans, which are not listed as part of this provision, will also be included and could also be 
prescribed by way of regulations to be included in the definition of “relevant offence”?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No and yes.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: Could the Attorney General please explain what the “no” relates to and what the “yes” 
relates to?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, it is not an addition to the seven statutes to be prescribed under the legislation 
as those that may form the foundation for “relevant offences” because a breach of a management plan or a 
provision in a management plan that is specified to be an offence falls within the Fish Resources Management 
Act provisions that I have already specified. Yes, there is a provision under the Fish Resources Management Act 
for provisions within the management plan, a breach of which can constitute offences. The answer is no and yes.  
Hon ADELE FARINA: Do any of the other seven items of legislation listed under the amendment moved by 
the Attorney General have similar references to other documents such as management plans, guidelines or 
whatever?  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have already provided a list of the offence-creating provisions under the several 
statutes. To the extent that there is an intention at this time to prescribe those offences as relevant offences for 
the purposes of proposed section 5, if the honourable member is asking whether there is another like provision to 
a management plan, the breach of which may constitute an offence in the same or similar terms to section 74 of 
the Fish Resources Management Act, then no, not to my knowledge. There are, however, provisions in several 
statutes, not so much in the Criminal Code, but possibly in the Firearms Act and the Weapons Act, in which 
there would be offences under the act itself and, possibly, offences under regulations made under those acts, but I 
am not able to say at this time. Certainly it is not contemplated that the Firearms Act or the Weapons Act would 
have regulations specifying particular provisions as falling within the scope of clause 5 if they do not carry more 
than three years’ imprisonment anyway.  
Hon ADELE FARINA: I again refer to the document earlier tabled by the minister. I note that the Fish 
Resources Management Regulations 1995 is intended to be prescribed by regulation under the amendment 
moved by the minister. The amendment moved by the minister relates very specifically to the acts. It does not 
mention the regulations to any of those acts, yet the minister has listed a regulation to one of the acts in this list 
that has been provided. Is it the intention that if this amendment gets passed by the house, any offences under the 
regulations to any of the seven acts mentioned could also be considered to be prescribed regulations and fall 
within the definition of “relevant offence”? The net is growing wider and wider as we speak.  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: As the honourable member knows, a reference to the act is a reference to the 
regulations made under the act. The only regulation that is specifically contemplated to be prescribed for the 
purposes of clause 5 is regulation 64 of the Fish Resources Management Regulations 1995. If any others prove to 
be important enough to prescribe, those will be brought before the house to be dealt with in the usual way. As for 
the net being drawn wider and wider, apart from impressions of concern and angst, I am not aware of what the 
concerns precisely are.  
Hon ADELE FARINA: I refer to the transcript of a hearing held by the committee as part of this inquiry on 
17 January 2012 when we talked to the Commissioner of Police about this regulation-making power and 
expressed concerns about the process. I will read from a statement made by the commissioner — 

One of the discussions we had yesterday is whether it may be possible, when there is consideration of 
an amendment to the schedule, that at least the standing committee gets briefed on that process. That is 
something we would not object to, if it was felt to be useful.  

I wonder whether the government has applied its mind to the comments made by the commissioner and 
considered whether such a process would be workable. It could be incorporated as part of this bill.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I was not at the hearing and I have not consulted with the Commissioner of Police 
on the matter. It is my understanding that, as part of a cooperative consultative process, he was saying that that is 
an option, but there was certainly no contemplation of changing the processes under the act and giving some 
specific regulation-making process that is out of the ordinary and different from what is normally done.  
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Hon NICK GOIRAN: I indicate that I will support this amendment to insert these seven acts into this bill, albeit 
reluctantly. I wholeheartedly support the first part of the amendment, which is to delete the lines because that is 
what my committee had been asking for. My preference would be to leave it at that. Nevertheless, we now have 
to consider the insertion of these seven acts. I do so without enthusiasm, but I will do so, of course, being the 
team player that I am. I at least make this observation. Before I entered into this place, Hon Simon O’Brien said 
to me, “If you love the law, you will not want to see it being made. Laws are like sausages; it is better not to see 
them being made.” I probably did not fully appreciate at the time the reality and the authenticity of that statement 
by my colleague, but I have a greater appreciation for it now than ever before. One of the reasons for that is that I 
still cannot believe that I will vote for two of these seven acts, when one of the documents that were provided to 
me earlier indicated that there was no current intention to prescribe it under either of those two acts. I would 
have thought that the more authentic amendment to be made at this point would be to have five of the seven and 
not include the Firearms Act 1973 and the Weapons Act 1999. However, some would argue that that is because I 
love the law and I would like to do it well rather than, to take a line from The Castle, do it by way of “the vibe of 
the thing”. That is not really my style; I would prefer it to be precise.  

There seems to be no cogent or coherent argument for why we need those two acts included. I have already said 
what I have to say about the Prostitution Act 2000. I indicate that I will not move an amendment to insert a new 
clause to seek that the Prostitution Act 2000 be repealed, albeit my view again is that would be the more precise 
way of dealing with this matter so that we know what we are dealing with. I find it odd that the executive can 
change the name of the act from the Prostitution Act to the Sexual Services Act with a stroke of a pen. We will 
have no say on that. I have taken some advice from the Clerk on this matter. I am told that to move such an 
amendment would contravene the standing orders as it is not sufficiently proximate to the subject matter of the 
bill. Basically, if we all agree to this amendment, we must understand that we are moving what is commonly 
referred to as a Henry VIII clause. The reason that we are doing that is that proposed subparagraph (b)(vi), which 
is the words “the Prostitution Act 2000”, can be changed outside the parameters of this chamber by the 
executive. I am told by the Clerk—I am paraphrasing—that, in effect, that is the way the cookie crumbles 
because both houses of Parliament have already moved and passed the Prostitution Amendment Act 2008. 
Therefore, Parliament is saying to the executive that the Parliament entrusts the executive with these matters and 
the executive, quite rightly, has said that it will not proclaim those provisions. As a Parliament we have to 
operate on the basis that those offences, which I count to be at least 17 under the Prostitution Amendment Act 
2008, are before us and are captured by the amendment that we are dealing with. I would have thought that a 
better way to deal with it would be to repeal the amendment act and then we would know exactly what we were 
dealing with, but that will not happen, much to my disappointment. Nevertheless, I have to be realistic about that 
and I realise that is the case. As I said, my preference would be for the bill to capture five of the seven acts listed 
in the amendment rather than all seven. I think that a further amendment would have been nice, but that will not 
happen. For all those reasons, I will support the insertion of these words, but without enthusiasm. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: As far as specifying five instead of seven statutes in the bill, that is a difference of 
opinion on which we will have to agree to differ. I find it an intriguing argument that this is somehow a Henry 
VIII clause. I cannot say that I accept that argument in the slightest. In any event, whether it is grudging or 
enthusiastic, I appreciate Hon Nick Goiran’s support for the amendment. 
Amendment put and passed. 
The CHAIR: Members, committee recommendations 2 and 3 fall away and we now move to committee 
recommendation 4. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: I am sorry, Mr Chair, but I am not sure why committee recommendation 3 falls away. 
The CHAIR: It is because we have deleted the lines already. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: That does mean that we cannot insert further words, because they fit in after the words 
that the — 
The CHAIR: As I see it, the committee recommendation, first and foremost, is to delete the word “definition”. 
That definitely would fall away, in my humble opinion. Having said that, we have already agreed to an insertion 
of other words. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: I bow to your determination, Mr Chair. 
The CHAIR: That is my interpretation. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: That is your ruling. That is fine, thank you. 
I move — 

Page 6, lines 31 and 32 — To delete the lines. 
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The reasons for the committee’s recommendations are clearly stated in the committee’s report and are basically 
along the same lines as the committee’s objections to paragraph (b) of the definition of “relevant offence”. 
Paragraph (b) of the definition of “sexual offence” similarly provides — 

any other offence of a similar kind prescribed for the purposes of this definition; 
Again, in relation to sexual offences, the definition provides for additional offences to be prescribed by 
regulations. The committee does not support this position and is of the view that these provisions should fall 
properly within the definition or, alternatively, should come back to the house by way of an amendment to the 
act so that the house can properly scrutinise and consider any additional sexual offences that would be caught 
under these provisions. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am not quite sure whether the honourable member understands the implications 
of what she is suggesting. Clause 12(1) states — 

An authority to conduct a controlled operation must not be granted unless the chief officer is satisfied 
on reasonable grounds — 

… 
(g) that any conduct involved in the operation will not — 
… 

(iii) involve the commission of a sexual offence against any person; 
Under the bill a sexual offence is defined as — 

(a) an offence under The Criminal Code Part V Chapter XXXI; or 
(b) any other offence of a similar kind prescribed for the purposes of this definition; 

If a new sexual offence is created by this place, it would not fall within the prohibited bounds of a covert 
operation unless this place then also amends the definition in proposed section 5 or the government includes that 
new sexual offence as one for the purposes of the definition of “sexual offence”, which can be done effectively 
and quickly by way of regulation and hence would limit the sorts of controlled operations that can be conducted. 
By deleting that definition, it leaves it at large, and unless the act is amended, certain offences of a sexual 
character may not fall within the definition of “sexual offence” for the purpose of clause 12(1)(g) and hence 
could be conducted as part of a controlled operation. The government cannot support the amendment. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: To put the record straight, if the government were to make a new sexual offence, at the 
time of making that sexual offence, the government could include the new sexual offence in the provisions of the 
definition of “sexual offence” under this act. The committee cannot propose what the Attorney General has just 
stated. It could easily be dealt with another way. All the committee is saying is that these matters should be 
considered by the chamber by way of a formal amendment, which allows full scrutiny by the chamber rather 
than be prescribed by regulation. 

Amendment put and negatived. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: I seek clarification about whether the next amendment falls away. 

The CHAIR: I do not think it does, simply because nothing has been deleted. By deleting the word “definition” 
and the insertion of the words, I think the member’s amendment is well and truly in order. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: Okay. I move — 

Page 6, line 32 — To delete “definition;” and insert — 

definition if and only if the prescribing of that offence has been recommended by resolution 
passed by both Houses of Parliament of this State;  

This amendment enables the process of adding additional sexual offences to fall within the ambit of this act by 
way of affirmative resolution rather than by disallowance. I do not intend going through it all again; it is very 
detailed in the committee report and I spoke to the issue earlier this evening. The committee is of the view that 
this is a much better process for making regulations of a sensitive nature because it provides for the house to 
consider and scrutinise the regulations at a high level. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The government cannot support the amendment. I have already outlined the 
purpose of this definition and the way it is meant to operate; there is a limitation on the sorts of operations that 
can be conducted. It is a safeguard against operations being allowed that might involve the commission of 
offences of a sexual character from time to time. If there is either a piece of legislation that is, say, 
commonwealth or whatever or there needs to be a response to additional offences of a sexual character being 
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created or of being decided to be of a sexual character, it is important that there be a response for the purposes of 
the safety of the community that is as expeditious as possible, and that would not be achieved by way of positive 
approval in the manner that is being contemplated. Therefore, we cannot agree with the amendment. 

Amendment put and negatived. 
Postponed clause, as amended, put and passed. 
Postponed clause 80: Terms used — 
The clause was postponed on 13 September after it had been partly considered. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Before I deal with the amendment standing in my name, I should indicate a bit of 
background of what has happened to date and what is contemplated by the government. On the last occasion this 
bill was debated, concerns were expressed about the extended definition of “court” in clause 80, which includes 
not only tribunals or other bodies established for the receipt of evidence, royal commissions and commissions 
and the like, but paragraph (c) of that definition also includes — 

 a commission, board, committee or other body established by the Governor  

And materially, I interpose — 
or by either or both Houses of Parliament or by the Government of the State to inquire into any 
matter; 

There was considerable concern, and I should say some justifiable concern, about the effect that that might have 
on Parliament’s privileges and powers. This topic has been agitating this house recently in respect of, for 
example, the Evidence and Public Interest Disclosure Legislation Amendment Bill 2011, and likewise in respect 
of this provision. The intention, and the government’s policy, is to provide a minimum set of safeguards against 
the disclosure of a protected witness or a covert operative and prescribed procedure under the bill when courts 
and other evidence-taking tribunals deal with such persons. It is important in the government’s view not only for 
certainty as to how these matters are dealt with, but also the comfort of those who are under the protection of 
witness protection certificates both under this bill and under the Witness Protection Act 1996 to know where 
they stand when being asked about matters and asked questions that might reveal their true identity.  

It was apparent from the last debate on this matter that the government may have encountered some difficulties 
in succeeding with the passage of this aspect of the bill had further consideration not been given to the definition 
and the way in which the bill dealt with these sorts of issues. I have to say that from my perspective it was a 
fruitful opportunity to reconsider the manner in which these provisions were cast and the way they apply it to 
protected witnesses who might have to appear before Parliament or one of its committees. I think that after 
further consideration and following very mature discussions with the opposition and the Greens, we have 
formulated a process that is not only fully respectful of Parliament’s privileges, but also provides the minimum 
protection that might be required for witnesses of that character.  
It is proposed to delete the reference to Parliament in paragraph (c) of the definition of “court” in clause 80, and 
to insert new definitions that will differentiate between court proceedings and parliamentary proceedings, and to 
institute a regime that is reflective of the processes that would be followed by a court or other evidence-taking 
tribunal, but one that is fashioned towards the processes of Parliament and preserves ultimately Parliament’s 
entitlement to control its own processes and procedures. The substance of that regime is set out in the balance of 
the supplementary notice paper, but, by way of outline, part of what had been contemplated previously for a 
court was that if a witness appeared before it who was the subject of a witness protection certificate, a witness 
protection certificate would be tendered to the presiding officer of the court—I use court as shorthand for any 
other evidence-taking tribunal also—that would disclose certain information about the witness and indicate that 
that witness was under an assumed or protected identity and that their true identity was protected. That 
information disclosed would be sufficient for the purposes of the proceedings before the court, and the court 
would only be able to inquire behind that protection certificate and to ask for information as to the true identity 
of the witness or information leading to the identification of a witness in the event it was satisfied, essentially, 
that it was important and relevant for the purposes of its inquiry or that it was in the interests of justice to do so. 
Plainly, some of that process is inapplicable to the way that Parliament and its committees operate. Furthermore, 
the original process in relation to courts would allow for an appeal to a superior court should a witness be 
required to disclose his or her true identity and is unwilling to do so. Again, in the context of Parliament and its 
committees, that does not quite fit with the way it operates. What is proposed here is that a witness protection 
certificate would be provided to the Clerk of the relevant house of Parliament, who can, of course, distribute it to 
the members of the committee that is engaged in the inquiry before which the witness will appear. The 
committee will have the relevant information about that witness, albeit not the witness’s true identity. If the 
committee determines that the witness should reveal his or her true identity and the witness is unwilling to do so, 
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the matter would then be referred to the relevant house of Parliament to make a decision about whether the 
committee could proceed along that line of inquiry. How the relevant house deals with that is a matter for that 
house; it may be that the question is referred to a select committee or to the Standing Committee — 

Hon Adele Farina: We don’t have select committees under our standing orders. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, but the other place does. The question could also be referred to the Standing 
Committee on Procedure and Privileges, as the case may be, to report back to the house. How it is done is a 
matter for the house to determine, but at the end of the day the decision will be made by the house. 

That is the regime that I propose to introduce into this part of the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Bill 
2011. It will involve not only an amendment to clause 80 as it presently stands but also, in due course, a 
recommittal of the bill to insert new provisions and to amend existing provisions that have already been dealt 
with in the course of the Committee of the Whole on previous occasions. On that basis, I will deal with my 
proposed amendments to clause 80 and I foreshadow that once the title of the bill is determined and the bill is 
reported to the house, I will seek a recommittal of the bill to deal with the clauses that have already been 
disposed of and to insert new clauses in accordance with that plan. 

Hon Adele Farina: Sorry, could you just repeat that last part? I couldn’t hear you. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I will deal with the amendments to clause 80 that are in the supplementary notice 
paper, and once the bill is reported to the house, I will seek a recommittal of certain clauses in this part to 
introduce the new regime that is set out in the supplementary notice paper, by way of introducing new clauses 
and amending some of the existing clauses to make quite plain that there is a process for Parliament and a 
process for courts and other tribunals. Unless there is some objection to that or some matters within individual 
clauses that need to be dealt with, it may be worthwhile to have the debate on the scheme at this point, so that 
members can be made aware of the way it is all meant to work. 

The CHAIR: Before I give the call to Hon Max Trenorden, I remind members that we are dealing with 
supplementary notice paper 210, issue 11. What the Attorney General has just outlined is mentioned just below 
the top of page 3, prior to clause 82. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: I will, as always, be guided by your point of view, Mr Chair. I would like to give an 
overview, as the Attorney General just did. Basically, I will say that what he has just said is a whole pack of 
nonsense. It is a paranoid point of view about privilege, and a paranoid view it is. He talks about a section of 
activity around a legitimate concern, but does not include the complete picture of what we are debating in terms 
of privilege. Privilege, in this context, is a position that has been hard fought for and won over 600 years of 
Westminster activity, yet we in this chamber are seemingly going to allow the executive to change a process that 
has developed over 600 years. I am not for a second arguing that we should not protect witnesses in these 
circumstances, but I will say that we are focusing on a small picture of a certain group of people and trying to 
protect them. That is what we should be doing. However, if I am serving on a committee or in this chamber and I 
have a concern about an individual—future activities, also; I am not talking about current people—for example, 
a corrupt Commissioner of Police, why should I give that up? Why should I give up the opportunity to make a 
decision on this person under protection, who might be assisting the police to find out a set of circumstances 
about drugs, corporate crime or more serious social crime? Why should I just look at that in isolation, as against 
protecting the opportunity that members of Parliament have enjoyed for 600 years to pursue the bigger picture? 
If, for example, we had to get to a corrupt Commissioner of Police through one of these individuals, why would 
we not do so? Why would we today move to make that happen? 

If members listened carefully to what the Attorney General said about the format and thought about how they 
operate in this chamber, they would understand that what he is saying is absolute nonsense. In practice, what he 
has just described does not happen here. Members are going to vote today to change the circumstances of this 
chamber and its proud history, and give away a portion of 600 years of hard-won practice, to win something 
which I agree is correct, but which I think could be handled in a different manner. The description we have just 
heard is just not sensible. Can somebody explain to me how a chair of a committee—there are a number in this 
chamber, including me—will be able to bring an issue to this chamber and ask it to make a decision on no 
information? How is that going to happen? Can somebody explain to me how it is going to happen? How will it 
be when a set of circumstances comes before the committee I chair and I am required to bring the matter to this 
chamber for open debate and decision? Can somebody please explain to me how that will work? I am telling 
members that it will not work and cannot work. We are going to pass a bill that will ensure that it cannot work. 
The other fundamental question here that cannot be overemphasised is that any individual who appears before a 
committee of this chamber has the right not to speak. What happens if they do not speak? What happens if I, as 
the chair, demand that person to give their name and even their alias, and they refuse to do so? As the chair of 
that committee, what can I do about that? We all know the answer; all I can do is come into this chamber and 
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report that Fred Nerk alias whatever has refused to address my committee, and ask the chamber to address the 
matter. The worst that this chamber could then do to that person is fine them.  

So, why are we going through this nonsense? I have tried to look at this objectively, but I absolutely refuse to 
give away 600 years of hard-fought privilege. I refuse to do it; I will not do it. It is our responsibility as members 
of Parliament, when we are elected, to uphold those powers. If members are willing to vote for these government 
amendments, what they are telling me is that they are prepared to give up those powers. I do not mind if 
members want to do that. But can members give me an argument as to why those powers should be given up? 
What is that argument? I have not heard it from the Attorney General. What I have heard is a paranoid view 
about how this chamber operates—not the reality of how this chamber operates, and not the reality of how our 
committees operate. So, even though I am the first person in this chamber to say that these individuals need 
protection, I ask each member: is this the right mechanism to supply that protection? I am telling members that 
each of these occasions that the Attorney General is speaking about will be a rare occasion, if it does ever occur. 
But, even if it does occur, there is an equal opportunity that that same set of circumstances will occur, because 
some of these individuals who are under protection will not be the best Western Australian subjects or people. 
Some of these people whom we will be protecting will have a pretty ordinary track record. But, at the same time, 
both this chamber and the other chamber have had a history of exposing corruption and malpractice in this state. 
If members accept these amendments proposed by the Attorney General, what they will be doing is giving away 
a section of that power. I ask members: why would they do that, particularly on the evidence that they have 
heard tonight?  
Hon GIZ WATSON: I also want to explain where we are at, after the conversations that we have had behind the 
Chair, with regard to clause 80 and the intention of this clause. As much as I have appreciated the debate that we 
have had, and the attempt to try to put into words these tricky notions of trying to achieve the desired outcome of 
ensuring the safety of operatives, I agree entirely with what Hon Max Trenorden has said, and I have put similar 
arguments previously. We are probably not the only Parliament to have contemplated this challenge, but we need 
to remember that no other jurisdiction has gone down this route—and there is probably good reason for that. In 
the view of the Greens (WA), there are very few circumstances in which there is justification for the use of 
covert operatives, and this bill already goes way beyond where we feel comfortable with the use of covert 
operatives.  
However, there are a number of principles that it is worth reminding the chamber about again in relation to 
Parliament. Hon Max Trenorden has made the point that these are hard-won powers that have evolved over 
centuries, and that we should not give them away lightly. Perhaps members have not taken the time to appreciate 
what it is to be a parliamentarian as opposed to what it is to be a politician. They are actually two related, but 
different, responsibilities. I reiterate that the four principles that this part of the bill overrides are, firstly, that 
freedom of speech in debates or proceedings of the Parliament ought not be impeached or questioned in any 
court; secondly, the question of legal immunity; thirdly, the power of the house to discipline its own members 
and others; and, fourthly, the right of the house to regulate its own affairs. So I simply say again that despite 
having had conversations about what amendments could be made to this bill, I am still of the view that if we are 
going to go down this track, the appropriate place to make these changes is in the Parliamentary Privileges Act, 
and I will seek to go down that track depending on how this part of the debate goes.  

But it is worth remembering also that the way in which these words are crafted is to do with the committee 
operations of the Parliament. It does not address the question of what would happen if a member were to come 
into this place, stand up in members’ statements and either inadvertently or deliberately reveal the identity of a 
covert operative. These amendments would not affect that situation at all—in fact, that situation arguably is more 
likely to occur. Both Hon Max Trenorden and I have gone through the committee process. I have been on a 
select committee in which a witness has refused to answer a question absolutely. In that situation, all the 
committee can do is report that to the house, and the house then has to make a decision as to whether it wants to 
take any action. It is also worth reminding the chamber that if these amendments go through, Parliament will 
have the penalties in place for revealing the identity of an operative, but the Corruption and Crime Commission 
will not have penalties in place. Why do we think it is okay for the CCC to keep those powers, but not the 
Parliament?  
Hon Michael Mischin: Parliament can direct the committee to require the revelation.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: Okay. But if there is a breach in the chamber and a member reveals the identity of an 
operative, what will happen? How will that member be brought to book? If there is a power to bring the member 
to book, and that is by way of a court proceeding, how will we handle the intersection between parliamentary 
privilege and the court? If there is no power to bring the member to book—that is, if a member stands up and 
names an operative, and nothing can happen—why are we doing all this? I think the committee’s 
recommendation is the right one with regard to this matter. We should just delete the words “the Parliament” and 
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leave it at that, as every other jurisdiction has done. But if we continue down this route of debating various 
amendments and pursuing this matter, I will certainly be looking at some alternative amendments. I guess that is 
where we are at. We will certainly support the initial proposition, which is to delete the reference to Parliament 
in clause 80. But we cannot support the remainder of the package, as it were. 
Hon PHILIP GARDINER: I rise to have the privilege of speaking on this issue after my very worthy colleague 
Hon Max Trenorden, and after Hon Giz Watson. It is a vexed issue. But we have to distil it so that we can 
separate out the different qualities of the system that has given the history to Parliaments, and also to the way in 
which the courts operate. This is really about what the courts can do. I think that what we have in this bill is very 
much tailored towards what the courts can do. Maybe it is part of the history of those who have framed the bill. 
But what the courts can do, and the way in which that affects parliamentary privilege, is one of the key aspects 
that is worrying me about this particular bill. Like Hon Max Trenorden, I believe that the principle of separation 
of powers is extremely valuable to our total set of institutions. But that does not mean to say that I do not have 
any concern for the professionalism, the bravery and the courage of those who are undercover agents working to 
expose crime in this state. I think it is a remarkable profession and it is remarkable to be able to get the people to 
do that. That is of concern, I am sure, to all of us. On the other hand, we have to be very careful that we do not 
compromise the institution or principles that have given us the history that we have, bearing in mind, as I have 
said in an earlier speech on this issue, that we in these institutions, especially the superior institution, if you like, 
that being Parliament, are all very ordinary people. But the proof is that the system somehow works. 

When it comes to the concern about the difference between committees and Parliament—an issue that I have 
discussed earlier in the briefings that we have had—I think that we need to have confidence in those people who 
are on those committees as being an extension of our chamber. If people cannot accept that principle, that is their 
problem, because it seems that the jurisdictions about which I am aware—that is, the other states of Australia, 
apart from the Northern Territory and Tasmania; and the federal government, which also has covert powers; and 
the United Kingdom, which has the state secrets act—have had no issues with committees and no issues with 
Parliament about disclosure of undercover names. We are the only state that has had an instance of this. I have 
discussed this to get some detail about it, and even then there are variations in how it finally came about that an 
undercover name was released into Hansard at a committee level. 

Let me go to where this amendment is taking us. As Hon Max Trenorden said, if a committee is hearing 
evidence from the witness who does not wish to give their name, and the committee makes a report in this 
chamber, when the committee comes to this chamber to assist it to make a decision, surely a case has to be 
mounted by the chair of the committee, and the other members of that committee if they speak to it, to say to the 
other members of the chamber why the release of that name is required. How do we do that without giving some 
circumstances? How do we do that without giving some clues about what is relevant in the matter? If we do that 
in the chamber of 36 people, plus the committee people and people who help in the chamber, that goes into 
Hansard, and it can also go outside. For those who may be linked to the particular person whose name is 
threatened with disclosure, there are many more clues for them to pick up who it is in reality than if it is 
contained to a committee. I am addressing two aspects. One is the principle of the privileges of Parliament, as 
Hon Max Trenorden said, going back 600 years. The other is the practicality and the risks to the undercover 
agent. My belief is that the risks are magnified more by bringing it into discussion in the chamber than if it is 
contained to a committee, which is the extension of this Parliament. So, I am trying to speak in the interests of 
both the undercover agent and the privileges of Parliament. 
We cannot chip away at the privileges of Parliament because, if we keep doing so, we will find we are in trouble 
when it is too late. The privileges of Parliament have served us in a manner that has kept the institution fruitful, 
productive and with integrity, especially in this area, for so many years. We are here to serve the Parliament and 
we are here to uphold its privileges so that Parliament is served in the appropriate way. Therefore, I must say, I 
am afraid, to the Attorney General that I am not for the amendment he is seeking to make. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I rise to make a brief contribution on postponed clause 80, having made some previous 
remarks. In essence, I note that the Attorney General proposes in due course to move to delete the reference to 
“either or both houses of Parliament”. That is entirely consistent with what the committee recommended. It is 
certainly an amendment that I propose to support with enthusiasm. As has been outlined by a number of other 
members this evening, I also share the view that that is as far as it should go, and we simply leave it at that.  

However, once again I anticipate that we will be going further than that. At that point, members need to take into 
account a number of considerations, and many of them have already been articulated this evening. 
The reason I suggest that there is no need for us to go any further than the simple deletion of the references to 
both houses of Parliament is that, in my view, ample adequate protections are in place with the current system. 
The very first protection that I believe exists is the fact that I find it still difficult to understand the circumstances 
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in which a covert operative would appear before a committee. Basically, I am saying that a human being needs to 
be in a chair in front of a committee at some point in time, and for that to have happened, something must have 
created that circumstance. In my experience in committee hearings, people do not appear before the committee 
unless they have either volunteered or been summoned. They are the only two circumstances of which I am 
aware in which a person would appear before the committee. 

I will pause and not consider the voluntary witness for a moment; I just want to consider the summonsed 
witness. In order for a witness to appear by way of a summons, my understanding, having had to do this once, is 
that the committee must pass a resolution naming the person whom it seeks to summons as its witness, and it 
then makes a request via the Clerk, who then initiates the summons process, and I believe the rest is taken care of 
by the Clerk. The point I want to make is that to draft a summons in order for a resolution to be made by the 
committee, we need to know the name of the human being that we are intending to put on the summons. Hon 
Max Trenorden, I think, gave some hypothetical names earlier in his contribution, so that, I think, demonstrates 
the point that we have to know the name of the person. He used a couple of hypothetical names, because, of 
course, if the covert operative we want to come before the committee is covert, we do not know the name of the 
person. That is the whole point. So, I respectfully submit to the house that there is no circumstance in which a 
covert operative could be summoned, which leaves us with the other scenario—that is, a covert operative 
voluntarily appears before the committee. I say that there are currently protections in place because of the use of 
the word “voluntary”. If the individual appearing before the committee does not want to be there, I would 
suggest that they should not volunteer. We then have two circumstances: first, a committee cannot summons a 
person that it does not know exists because it does not know the name of the person; and, second, the person 
does not want to appear and therefore does not volunteer. The reason I am saying that we do not need to go any 
further than simply deleting the references to both houses of Parliament is that I share the point that has been 
elaborated by other members that I do not believe there is a circumstance in which this arises. 

I pause for a moment to reflect on the possibility that a covert operative who does not want to be there has 
volunteered anyway and is in front of the committee. That seems to me the only circumstance in which we 
would then need to contemplate all the other circumstances that have been set out this evening. A person does 
not want to be there but they have volunteered to be before the committee. They are very concerned about their 
identity and they are particularly concerned about their name being volunteered, but for some reason they have 
volunteered. While I find those circumstances absolutely unbelievable, nevertheless, let us assume for a moment 
that that happens. What will then happen is precisely the sequence of events outlined by Hon Max Trenorden; 
that is, at some point we might be swearing in the witness or asking them to state their full name and then we 
have an issue. I think there are still sufficient adequate protections in place because if a person is volunteering to 
appear and they do not really want to be there and their concern for not being there is that they do not want to 
disclose their name, they might contact the committee chair or the committee secretariat and say, “I would be 
willing to volunteer to give evidence because I think I have something intelligent to say about your inquiry, but I 
have got this concern, so I would want that concern dealt with before I would be willing to volunteer.” A number 
of things could be done at that point. If I were the unwilling volunteer at that stage, the first thing I would do is 
ask the committee if it would be willing to take my evidence in camera. That would then, in effect, ensure that I 
have control of whether the evidence is going to be disclosed at any time—possibly a 30-year period, but I stand 
to be corrected on that; in any event, it is a very long time. Certain protections are in place.  

I imagine that if I am a covert operative, somewhere in the chain of command I am ultimately responsible to the 
Commissioner of Police. At the moment the Commissioner of Police is Karl O’Callaghan. We all know that is 
his name so I assume he is not a covert operative. He has attended before many parliamentary inquiries. If he is 
the ultimate chief in the chain of command, I would probably go to him and say, “Commissioner, I think I would 
be able to contribute something intelligent to the inquiry that is before the parliamentary committee at the 
moment. I would like to volunteer but I have concerns with regard to my identity being disclosed. Would you, 
commissioner, be able to speak on my behalf to the committee and ensure that all the necessary protections are 
in place? When you and I are satisfied, I will volunteer.” They are the various steps that I would take if I were 
going to do that. All of those things exist at the moment. We do not need to change anything in this act or any 
other act to make that happen. They are the reasons why I would suggest we need to just delete the references to 
both houses of Parliament and stop at that point. It is apparent to me that that will not be happening. We will be 
doing it by way of a very comprehensive procedure, sufficiently comprehensive that I would not recommend that 
it be in the standing orders. Although I think the standing orders are the better place to house this type of thing, 
as we have done recently on another bill, this is far too lengthy to put into the standing orders, which should be 
concise and freely available to members. It would be better if it were in the standing orders because, as the chair 
of a committee, I would rather understand the rules under which I am required to manage a situation and the laws 
of engagement that I am entitled to be involved in in one document, not have the standing orders here and then 
realise, or maybe not even realise, that I am subject to some other act that I will have to dig out and understand 
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some covert operations that I need to be cognisant of. I have some concerns about that. I have concerns around 
the housing of these provisions in legislation rather than in standing orders.  

Ultimately, I return to where I started in my contribution either last week or the week before, saying that I am 
still not sure that we need to be spending all this time on this matter. This is why, ultimately, despite the fact that 
I am spending some time discussing this matter now, I do not intend to die in a ditch over this matter. Although I 
do not think it is the right place to house it and although I think it is necessary to do all these things and although 
I strongly object to even the smallest truncation of parliamentary privilege, nevertheless, I still think that the 
circumstances in which this will arise are remote. As I said, it will be only when the unwilling voluntary witness, 
as ironic as those terms are, appears before the committee. We can do all of this and ultimately it will probably 
never come up.  

The one point that does impinge on parliamentary privilege—I will make some comments about this at the 
relevant time when we get there—is proposed new part 4, division 2B. There is a clause that I object to, which 
states that the relevant house must not pass a resolution unless it is satisfied about certain things. I feel very 
uncomfortable with this house telling a future house that it must not pass a resolution unless it is satisfied with 
certain things. Who do we think we are? That is the part that concerns me. That is the only part that I can see at 
this point in this convoluted scheme that would infringe on parliamentary privilege. I do not accept the argument 
that Parliament will retain all its sovereignty. With respect, that is incorrect. Yes, it is true to say that Parliament 
will ultimately be the arbiter and the determiner in the sense that it will make the resolution. That is the case at 
the moment. We would be saying to that house, “You can be the arbiter but you can only be the arbiter so long as 
you take into account these things.” If we are going to do that, with respect, I think that needs to be in the 
standing orders, not in a piece of legislation that people would note could be amended at any time by a simple 
majority, whereas the standing orders would require an absolute majority.  

With those comments, I indicate that when the Attorney General proposes to delete the references to both houses 
in due course, I will support that with enthusiasm.  

Hon KATE DOUST: I thank the Attorney General for the work that has been done over the past week or so. It 
is never easy when we get to a bill of this nature to take that step backwards and start to discuss new ways of 
resolving issues. It has taken quite some time. Certain issues may not have been resolved as perfectly as they 
could have been. We had a discussion about that outside the chamber. It is a very complicated issue. For a range 
of reasons this bill has been bouncing around this chamber for several months now. I think we all agree that it is 
absolutely paramount to afford covert operatives, who, on the rare occasion, present themselves to a 
parliamentary committee to give evidence, the utmost protection. I do not understand why a committee would 
ever seek to publish the real name of that covert operative or, indeed, where they live. I do not understand why a 
committee would ever get to a point at which it would want to do that. I agree with Hon Nick Goiran that 
systems are already in place that should prevent that, but unfortunately that obviously has not happened on a 
couple of occasions.  

Hon Giz Watson interjected. 

Hon KATE DOUST: My understanding is that a covert operative’s name has been published in a public report.  
Hon Giz Watson: I question that.  

Hon KATE DOUST: That is what we were advised.  

Hon Giz Watson interjected. 

Hon KATE DOUST: In fact, Hon Giz Watson was there when I was given that information.  

Anyway, I think we agree we should afford that protection. In the proposed amendments the Attorney General 
has put in front of us, he has sought to provide the mechanisms that would do that. I understand the issues that 
Hon Max Trenorden has raised. I must say that I am slightly confused, yet again, when we find members of the 
government not working together. Hon Max Trenorden has come in here at a very late stage of the game. I know 
he probably became aware of these issues only today, but it is confusing. I agree that parliamentary privilege is 
indeed a very key issue for all of us, but on this occasion the government is trying to find an appropriate balance 
that affords protection to individuals on rare occasions and also ensures that members are able to manage those 
processes. This is a serious issue. I do not know whether there is any further opportunity to take the step that the 
Attorney General has talked about in dealing with clause 80 and then revisiting some of those other issues, given 
the extent of feeling in the chamber. Unless otherwise convinced, at this point the opposition will support the 
government’s proposed amendments.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I would like to take this opportunity — 
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The DEPUTY CHAIR: Just before you do, Hon Adele Farina, I will just let you know that there is no question 
before the chair at the moment. We are debating postponed clause 80.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I rise to speak to the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes 
Review’s report and recommendations. I am indebted to Hon Giz Watson for reading into Hansard the whole 
committee report on this matter. I do not intend to go through that again for members, except to support the 
members who have spoken this evening in support of the committee’s recommendations and the view that we 
should go no further than those committee recommendations. The reasons for that are clearly set out in the 
committee report.  
I would like to make a few additional comments. It is important for us all here tonight to note that the 
WA Parliament has never placed the safety of covert operatives, or people working in this field, at risk. I do not 
believe that it ever would. Hon Max Trenorden and Hon Nick Goiran have already gone through a lot of what I 
propose to say. The Parliament or a parliamentary committee has no capacity to invite or demand that such a 
person appear before the Parliament or a parliamentary committee when we do not know who they are. It is just 
not humanly possible to do this. As Hon Nick Goiran said, the person would actually need to volunteer 
themselves in order to find themselves in that position. Incidents to date involving people who work in a similar 
field, or the covert field, and have given evidence before or sought to give evidence before a parliamentary 
committee, were offered up by WA Police. They were not identified by the parliamentary committee. They were 
not summonsed to appear before a parliamentary committee. They were not invited to appear before a 
parliamentary committee. They were offered up by WA Police, and, in my respectful opinion, unnecessarily.  

My experience on a number of inquiries into police bills is that the assistant director of legal and legislative 
services at WA Police not only has an excellent legal mind, but also is a strong and capable advocate for 
WA Police. He is always fully across his brief and the bill in question, and does a more than admirable job in 
putting the police argument in relation to the bill and the police position. His knowledge of police procedures, 
issues and practices is second to none in WA Police. He has actually done an absolutely brilliant job in 
representing WA Police—and it is his job to do that. It is his job to come before parliamentary committees to 
answer questions when we are inquiring into bills. He does that very well. With him there, there really is no need 
for anyone else to be there from WA Police. He is more than capable to answer any questions put by a 
parliamentary committee. Likewise, the Commissioner of Police is also a strong advocate for WA Police. He is 
always across his brief, as he should be. He is more than capable of answering questions. He knows police 
procedures. He knows what each of his police officers in their various units should be doing, the procedures they 
are required to follow and the situations in which they find themselves. He is more than adequate and capable of 
appearing before a parliamentary inquiry and answering all those questions that a parliamentary inquiry might 
need to put, to find out information about a police bill. It is my view that there are people in senior positions in 
the WA police force who can undertake the work of answering and assisting committees with inquiries. I really 
cannot see any situation in which the WA police force would want to volunteer covert operatives, or people 
working in that field or in similar fields, when there is a degree of risk to their safety, to parliamentary 
committees to give evidence when there are people in those positions who are more than capable of providing 
the information needed.  
Another important factor to note is that in a situation in which either the assistant director of legal services or the 
Commissioner of Police is unable to answer a question put by a parliamentary committee, the parliamentary 
committee always affords that person an opportunity to take that question on notice, go back to the department, 
talk to the relevant officers, find the information that is needed and provide that to the committee. Again, that is 
another example of the Parliament going out of its way to ensure that people who need a level of safety or 
protection are not put at risk. We have processes that work very well and have done so for hundreds of years, and 
I do not see why they would not continue to do so into the future. It is the role of these officers—the 
Commissioner of Police, legal officers and instructing officers—to advocate on behalf of WA Police on any bill 
before Parliament. They do this job well. There is no reason to place police operatives at risk by WA Police 
offering them up as witnesses to parliamentary inquiries. If we are genuinely concerned about the safety of these 
officers, the mere appearance of these officers before a parliamentary committee risks the person’s identity being 
exposed. It is not just the naming of that person—their appearance before the committee could actually place 
their identity and their safety at risk. For those reasons, it is my opinion this should always be avoided unless 
absolutely and unavoidably necessary. I am sure that this is a position all members would agree with. 

Further, the current standing orders and operational practices of parliamentary committees enable a committee to 
protect an identity of a witness. If such a request is made at the appropriate time, the request can be granted by 
the committee. As Hon Nick Goiran and Hon Max Trenorden have already outlined, we have processes that 
work. A person can say that they want to give evidence before the committee but they want their identity to be 
kept secret. The committee can consider that and comply with that request. I can see no circumstance in which a 
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committee, particularly committees that inquire into bills, would not consent to that sort of request being made. 
It is very important to note that the request actually needs to be made. It needs to be made to the committee 
initially. When a witness appears before the committee at a hearing, they get another opportunity to clearly state 
their position and walk out if they are not happy. Then they get a copy of the transcript of evidence and if their 
name appears in that, they get another opportunity to say, “Excuse me, but we agreed that my name would not 
appear in the transcript of the hearing, so please remove it.” Well before a report is produced there are a number 
of opportunities for a witness to ensure that their identity is not revealed.  

Tonight we are being asked to consider provisions to this bill that do not form part of the uniform scheme, do not 
form part of the model bill and were not considered necessary by the technical officers who developed the model 
bill and the ministers who approved the uniform scheme. We are being asked to consider provisions to this bill 
that are unnecessary and which, if agreed to, will impact on parliamentary privilege and blur the separation of 
powers. Those principles are the cornerstone of our democratic system of government that we are duty bound to 
respect and protect. We are being asked to consider these provisions unnecessarily.  
The government has not produced any justification or evidence for the necessity for these provisions and for 
impinging on parliamentary privilege in the manner that is being proposed. If we are to take this path—my 
strong recommendation to members here tonight is to not take this path; we should support the committee 
recommendation and do nothing further—I urge members to seriously consider the amendments that Hon Giz 
Watson has foreshadowed that she will move to have these provisions incorporated into the Parliamentary 
Privileges Act, which is a more appropriate place for them to be placed rather than in the bill we are considering. 
I say so for similar reasons that Hon Nick Goiran has mentioned. As a chair of a committee, when I seek the 
parameters in which I can operate, I go to the standing orders.  

I go to the standing orders and the Parliamentary Privileges Act to be clear about what I am doing. If we start 
putting these provisions into a range of different acts, we will have to have a mountain of acts available to us at 
every committee meeting and we will need to keep crosschecking how it might impact the way we go about 
doing our business. Let us not be mistaken here; the penalties proposed to apply in relation to these provisions 
are steep. They are two years’ imprisonment, a $24 000 fine and loss of a member’s parliamentary position. We 
also put at risk the committee staff. We need to consider that very carefully in what we are doing here tonight. A 
mistake by a member of Parliament may also put at risk committee staff. We need to think about that very, very 
carefully. It is my view that the compromise position that has been foreshadowed by Hon Giz Watson would at 
least make it more workable; it would ensure that there is a bit of separation of powers; and that if we are to have 
these sorts of provisions, they would be housed where they should be—that is, in the Parliamentary Privileges 
Act 1891. This is a very reasonable compromise position. I still think it is unnecessary. That is my position and it 
is certainly the position of the committee that I have the responsibility to speak on behalf of. Nevertheless, it is a 
better compromise because it provides some balance between those competing principles that we are trying to 
deal with here in providing a safety protection for officers who are involved in covert operations and a range of 
other sensitive areas in the WA Police, and ensures we protect parliamentary privilege and the separation of 
powers, which we are duty bound to protect.  

The government has not advanced an argument for why the amendment proposed by Hon Giz Watson does not 
adequately address the concerns expressed by the government and/or the WA Police. In the absence of a strong 
and just argument being advanced, it is my view that Parliament should support the amendment foreshadowed by 
Hon Giz Watson because it delivers the same result that the government has put forward and it provides the same 
protections that WA Police seeks. However, it makes more sense for it to be in the Parliamentary Privileges Act 
and not contained in this bill. Short of some justification for why that cannot be done or that it offers some lesser 
protection, I think that, as other members have said this evening, we need to think very carefully about the 
decisions that we will make on this provision tonight.  
Hon GIZ WATSON: I do not wish to say much more at this point. But I want to clarify the suggestions that a 
precedent has been set in terms of a breach that has revealed the identity of a covert operator. I will not go to the 
detail of the information that the Attorney General has kindly provided behind the Chair, but suffice to say a lot 
of question marks hang over that particular case, not the least that, as has been mentioned by other members, the 
particular people involved in that case were not summonsed; they came of their own free will. I think what 
happened next is unclear. I appreciate the Attorney General has given quite a lot of information about that case, 
some of which is quite sensitive, so I will not talk about that other than to say it does not provide a justification 
for this approach in the bill. I thank the Attorney General for the information that was provided, but it has not 
convinced me that we need to do this. In fact, it has had the opposite effect. It has convinced me that we need to 
pass an amendment to remove Parliament out of this particular bill.  
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I thank members for their contributions to this important debate. A lot of what has 
been said is unanswerable, not because it is cogent, but simply because it is so vague, generalised and unfocused 
that there is no way of responding to it with any logical argument. I take the example of what we have heard 
about the effect on parliamentary privilege; the inference is that that is the focus and effect of these provisions, 
yet no-one has taken the trouble to explain where or how parliamentary privilege is affected.  

We have heard Hon Philip Gardiner say that we are here to support Parliament and its privileges. With respect, 
no, that is not our job. Our job here is to represent the interests of Western Australians and to pass laws for the 
peace, order and good government of this state. That means having a due sensitivity to those we call upon as 
servants of our state to protect our security and to the job that they do and the risks that they have subjected 
themselves to, often voluntarily, and to provide a certain level of protection to them. Although we have heard a 
lot about extraordinary powers and how far they go and how extreme they are and the like, to a very large extent 
the point of the bill is to not only put constraints on controlled operations and the operatives that undertake them, 
but also provide some protection for them. A small example is that if they are called upon to commit an offence 
in order to establish their bona fides to the organisations that they are trying to infiltrate, the bill provides a 
protection for them against prosecution. When they are subpoenaed to give evidence in a court—Hon Nick 
Goiran seems to think that unless they turn up voluntarily there is no way of compelling them to attend and so 
the problem will not arise—they may be asked questions about their true identity. 

Hon Adele Farina interjected. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is obvious that Hon Adele Farina simply does not get it. They may be asked 
questions in a court prosecution when they turn up as covert operative X. I have had witnesses, in my 
experience, who have been called to give evidence in prosecutions and they have operated under titles and were 
required to be cross-examined. Questions might be asked of them with a view to assisting the defence, either for 
proper reasons or simply to disconcert the witnesses, about what their true identity is. Protections are provided so 
that they do not have to do that. Likewise, parliamentary committees, whether they are standing committees or 
select committees, may inquire into a number of matters. They may be required to delve into issues that relate 
simply to matters of process or into a particular operation or conduct in order to ascertain the truth behind it. It is 
proper—the government concedes and supports the fact that it is quite proper—for Parliament and its 
committees to do that as organs of Parliament—as its hands and eyes, as it were. However, Parliament must 
approach its task with discretion and common sense. Hon Max Trenorden seems to think that this is a lot of 
nonsense and that it will never happen. He sees it from the point of view of a member of Parliament—that is his 
profession, which is fair enough—and Hon Nick Goiran talked about what he would do if he were summonsed to 
a committee. That is all very well for Hon Nick Goiran because he is legally learned and also a member of 
Parliament.  
The protections provided in this bill are also aimed at ensuring that the system works in a way that is sensitive to 
the requirements of witnesses who do not have the benefit of knowing the way the system is meant to work, or 
could work if it is done with goodwill and common sense. Members may have been in this place a little too long 
if they cannot put themselves into the shoes of a police officer who has voluntarily put aside his life in order to 
subsume himself into a false identity and persona in order to live undercover and effectively be a spy, as it were, 
within his own community to uncover serious criminal misconduct. These provisions could apply to an 
informant, no matter what his criminal record might be, or simply an unfortunate person who is a protected 
witness because he happened to have seen or heard something that might endanger people far more dangerous 
than he is and he is called before a parliamentary committee or wants to assist a parliamentary committee by 
going to it voluntarily—a notion that members seem to scoff at—in order to assist the committee’s inquiries, and 
does not know where he stands. He might go to the Chair and have a bit of a yarn and try to work something out. 
I am sure Hon Max Trenorden would be familiar with that task; maybe he would even do it. However, if we are 
talking about a man or woman off the street or a police officer who feels duty-bound to do their job and assist 
Parliament and its committees, we are looking at someone who would be taking advice. The advice they would 
get from their lawyer would be that if they were to go before a parliamentary committee, they would be sworn in 
or would take an affirmation and they would have to tell the truth and answer the committee’s questions. If the 
person did not want to answer a question, the lawyer would advise the person that he might be subject to 
contempt of Parliament and fined and that if he does not pay the fine, he could go to jail. Hon Adele Farina said 
that the penalty is only two years, which is not much. She said that two years was a serious offence but that it 
was not serious enough to be a serious offence if it was under three years within the terms of the act. 

Hon Adele Farina: What are you talking about? You’re not making any sense. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: A witness needs to have some comfort in the processes not only if they are 
appearing before a court or other evidence-taking tribunal, but also before a parliamentary committee. Nothing in 
this bill prevents a parliamentary committee from asking any question it likes relevant to its inquiry and terms of 
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reference, or even irrelevant questions. In my experience, many irrelevant questions are asked in the course of 
committee inquiries. The only prohibition is that if someone appears under a witness protection certificate, the 
committee cannot ask questions that might disclose the witness’s true identity without having a look at the 
criteria involved—that is, whether it is essential to the facts that the committee is trying to uncover. If that is the 
case and the committee feels that it is essential and it has turned its mind to the same things that a court, the 
Corruption and Crime Commission, a royal commission or anyone else is required to turn its mind to, then the 
matter comes before Parliament and Parliament makes that decision. Where is the infringement on parliamentary 
privilege there, I ask rhetorically? Parliament makes the decision. If it were done otherwise and a witness simply 
decided to be brazen and said to the committee, “I’m not going to answer your question; get stuffed”, the 
committee would take the matter to Parliament anyway in order to have its direction enforced. At the moment, 
and unless these provisions are passed, a parliamentary committee has nothing that it needs to refer to. It has no 
touchstone as to when it ought to or ought not to ask the question. All this legislation does is say that before the 
committee does that, it should think this through. If that is something that ought to be in the standing orders, so 
be it, but it is not. We have heard a great deal about the debate on the Evidence and Public Interest Disclosure 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2011 when it was said that a legislative option should be adopted rather than 
adopting the process as a standing order. That was not life and death stuff and we know the way that went; it 
went in the standing orders. However, this is a different proposition. In terms of this being some great departure 
from principle, I remind members yet again that the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act 1996 was passed 
in 1996. That act is outlined in the broad terms that are currently set out in this part of the bill and was geared to 
Parliament, insensitive to its privileges, and passed by this place. If members look at the second reading debate, 
they will see that it was passed without any comment. 
Hon Giz Watson: I was not here then. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Neither was I. I think I was on holiday for most of that year. 

The point is that it is nothing that is unknown. This bill is also correcting that anomaly and bringing it into a 
consistent regime that not only will apply to witnesses in respect of the covert powers bill, but also fixes the 
regime that is currently anomalous, odd and unsuited to Parliament and insensitive of Parliament’s privileges in 
the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act. It is bringing it all into the same system and that, I would have 
thought, is something that ought to be supported. It may be very well for all of us sitting in this place now to say 
it will never happen or that there are other ways to work around the problem—that may be; we have had a couple 
of suggestions about that—or that witnesses ought to be a bit more reliant on other means of avoiding having to 
answer questions of parliamentary committees, but it is the government’s view that that is not a satisfactory 
option and that all that is being done is respecting Parliament’s privilege by saying Parliament makes the 
ultimate decision. However, there is a process that has to be gone through before it gets there—that is, a 
parliamentary committee has given thought to each of the same considerations as any other evidence-taking 
tribunal so that a witness is able to know what is required of them and the circumstances that that protection can 
be set aside, and to have some certainty and transparency as to the process. That is what is being proposed. I 
concede that if one looks at the question of whether a committee can freewheel and demand a witness for 
whatever reason it may choose to answer as to identity, it may be an infringement on its prerogatives, but frankly 
I do not think it should do that anyway, and if there was another way around the issue, I would be happy to 
entertain it.  

I am surprised at Hon Giz Watson’s position, as she stated it, that she opposes the regime proposed. I had 
understood that she was sympathetic to the problem after our discussions behind the Chair. I had understood that 
her proposal about putting provisions into the Parliamentary Privileges Act is pretty much reflective of what is 
proposed by the government. I have to say that the idea of putting them into the Parliamentary Privileges Act has 
been mooted with me; it is not one that the government supports and there are a couple of reasons for that. One 
of them is that it goes against the advice of both Parliamentary and State Counsel. The second is that that advice 
simply reinforces my views as to the appropriateness of doing that task, and I say that because the Parliamentary 
Privileges Act is designed to be something that sets out broad principles as to Parliament’s powers and the 
manner in which Parliament can exercise them and enforce them. This is specific legislation involving a specific 
scheme and involving specific types of people in the same way that the Witness Protection (Western Australia) 
Act does, and it is common sense. It may be a little hard for some to prise themselves away from the standing 
orders and look at the law of the land, but I would have thought that it is no great struggle that if we end up with 
someone before a committee who happens to be a protected witness and has a witness protection certificate 
issued under the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) legislation or under the Witness Protection (Western 
Australia) Act, we might think we ought to look there to see how we deal with the problem, what a witness 
protection certificate actually is, what it ought to disclose and who issues it. All of those things would need to be 
included—or at least a fair number of them—in the Parliamentary Privileges Act in order to make sense of some 
sort of regime that would be put into that act. Hon Giz Watson’s amendment, for example, to the Parliamentary 
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Privileges Act, apart from blowing out the act enormously—it is only a matter of a dozen or so sections at the 
moment, but we would be adding about half a dozen into it—refers to a witness protection certificate. We would 
have to put in definitions to the Parliamentary Privileges Act for that as well, so the amendment being proposed 
at the moment is not satisfactory; there has to be a lot more work done on it than simply picking out some 
relevant sections and sticking them in to the act.  

There has to be a context too, which leads me to the third point. When there is a consistent self-contained regime 
under something like the covert powers bill or under the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act as a matter 
of basic statutory interpretation that would be applied by the court or by a Parliament or by a parliamentary 
committee or any lawyer or any witness, they would look at the scheme in order to understand and resolve 
anomalies and matters of uncertainty. There is a question of context. If they were simply dropped into the 
Parliamentary Privileges Act, these provisions would be interpreted in the light of that act and the scheme set up 
there, rather than this one, which could give rise to issues.  

Therefore, there are a number of reasons I cannot support the idea of the Parliamentary Privileges Act option, but 
the substance of it is that it will be reflected in any case in this bill. The government does not resile from the fact 
that it needs to provide not only some level of protection to these people who serve the state in the same manner 
that we serve the state, but at far more personal risk, but that also they need some certainty as to the regime, the 
steps and the protections that are available to them. There is no guarantee that a member of this house or the 
other place might not, through negligence, through malice or through simple stupidity or bloody mindedness, 
reveal the identity of a covert operative or reveal the identity of a protected witness; there will be no guarantees 
against that sort of thing. There may be penalties that the relevant house of Parliament may impose on that 
person, but there is no guarantee it will not happen. However, we can try to achieve some minimal level with as 
little imposition, and I would suggest that it is a minuscule imposition on Parliament’s privileges. Indeed, I 
would argue that, except for the fact that a committee has to go through an extra stage or two and turn its mind to 
a particular set of criteria before it asked the ultimate question, it does not affect Parliament’s privileges in the 
slightest, but sets up just a slightly different regime that needs to be followed in order to achieve the same end.  

Hon Philip Gardiner has raised a number of issues about the practicality of things and how they might be 
achieved. I can understand his point of view and I cannot anticipate every case that comes before this place. The 
Parliament would remain in control of its privileges and its processes within the constraints of a committee it sets 
up simply being required to allude to a necessity within the terms of the bill as to whether it is necessary for its 
inquiry to have that person reveal their true identity. I am comforted by the support of the opposition and I pass 
on my appreciation to Hon Kate Doust for her contribution to the discussions we have had about this, and also to 
Hon Wendy Duncan and Hon Col Holt, who participated in a briefing conducted last Thursday. There is nothing 
more to be said about this from the government’s perspective. We will pursue the scheme I have foreshadowed 
and we will seek the recommittal of these clauses to effect that scheme once clause 80 is dealt with and the bill 
reported to the house. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: I just point out to the Attorney General that if he thought he would convince me to 
vote somewhat differently, he should not stand up and say that the reason this bill is being brought in is that 
Parliament is incompetent, that members of Parliament are incompetent and that committees are incompetent. 

Hon Michael Mischin: I did not say that. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: The Attorney General should read his Hansard tomorrow morning. That is the core 
basis — 

Hon Michael Mischin: Are you saying that I used the word “incompetent”? 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: No; but the — 

Hon Michael Mischin: Then why are you asserting that I said that? 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: The Attorney General should read his Hansard tomorrow morning and see what he 
said. He did not use those exact words, but I like to round things out a little, just like the Attorney General likes 
to round things out a little in his addresses. The Attorney General has directly attacked this particular institution 
in his response and that does not make me feel any happier about his argument. The Attorney General has totally 
ignored some of the debate before him. Let me go through just a few matters on which this bill impacts on 
parliamentary privilege. I refer first to the freedom of speech, debates and proceedings of Parliament. Can 
members name any other occasion on which a person can stand in this place, under privilege, and go to jail? 

Hon Michael Mischin: Where does it say it happens here? 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: It happens under the Attorney General’s bill. 
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Hon Michael Mischin: Where? Point to the provision. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: The provision is that if a member stands and discloses the name of a covert 
operator, they face a charge in the courts. 

Hon Michael Mischin: Where? Point it out to me. 

Hon Adele Farina: Clause 90. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: That is my reading of it, and the Attorney General has not convinced me any 
differently. Clause 90. 

Hon Michael Mischin: Clause 90. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: To carry on, legal immunity and the power of the house to discipline its own 
members. That has always been a closely held position of the — 
Hon Michael Mischin: That’s a different division of the bill! It’s in division 2. It’s got nothing to do with 
Parliament. Read the bill! 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: I asked the Attorney General those questions last Thursday; that is not what he 
responded then. 

Hon Michael Mischin: Clause 90 is in a different division of the bill! 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: Madam Deputy Chair (Hon Alyssa Hayden), I will continue on with my points. 
This chamber and every chamber in the Westminster system have always enjoyed the right to discipline its own 
members, but this bill departs from that point of view. Members of parliamentary staff may have legal 
proceedings brought against them under clause 96, Attorney General, not clause 90, so I correct that. A number 
of court decisions have stated they may use parliamentary proceedings to prove facts. A statement by a member 
in this chamber can be used against them in a court. Is that not a change to parliamentary privilege? An innocent 
act may be sufficient for criminal proceedings to be brought against a member of Parliament or, more 
importantly, parliamentary staff. A Hansard reporter who is recording the events of this place or a committee 
meeting might accidentally make a mistake and there is no proof that that person would not have serious charges 
brought against them for accidently reporting the name of an operative or other undercover individual. 

Attorney General, there is no point in abusing members to try to get this bill through. The Attorney General’s bill 
has so many holes in it one could drive a Mack truck through it. 

Hon Michael Mischin: You didn’t point any out when we were discussing it the other day. 
Hon MAX TRENORDEN: I just pointed a couple out; it is a pity the Attorney General did not take the time to 
listen, as usual. He likes to bully us and argue with us, but — 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Alyssa Hayden): Order! I would just like to remind the member that he has one 
minute left, so he might want to use his time wisely. 

Hon MAX TRENORDEN: One minute is a long time, Madam Deputy Chair. 

This is probably a good time to draw these proceedings to a close, but I have not finished putting my point of 
view. The issue is that the government is saying that this place, in its ignorance, is not capable of conducting its 
own business, which I object to extremely. 

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again, pursuant to standing orders. 
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